Workforce Issues: Integrating Substance Use Services into Primary Care Conference

Workforce Issues Related to: Physical and Behavioral Healthcare Integration

Specifically Substance Use Disorders and Primary Care

A Framework

Joan Dilonardo, Ph.D., R.N.

August 3, 2011

This document was developed for the joint ONDCP/SAMHSA/HRSA meeting August 10th, 2011, for the discussion of practice strategies, related workforce, training and education issues regarding the integration of services for Primary Care and Substance Use Disorders.

Hyatt Regency Washington Hotel on Capitol Hill, Washington, DC August 10 – 11, 2011

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	3
Introduction	5
Critical Importance of Integration	6
Adopting Evidence Based Practices	8
Substance Abuse Treatment Integration: What Does it Look Like	10
New workers focusing on substance use disorders in integrated care	12
The Current Substance Abuse Treatment Workforce and Integrated Care	16
Substance Abuse Treatment Counselors	17
Social Workers: Mental Health and Substance Abuse Practice	18
Psychologists	19
Registered Nurses and Advanced Practice Nurses	19
Physicians	20
Physician Assistants	21
Recovery Support Specialist	22
Continuing Education and Evidence Based Practices	23
Financing Integrated Care: Barriers and Solutions	24
Key Elements for Success	27
References	31
Appendix A	38

Executive Summary

The integration of substance abuse treatment into primary care and other medical settings is of critical importance.

•A large group of persons who or at risk for substance use disorders can be identified and assisted to modify their substance use in primary and other medical care settings.

•Substance use conditions are associated with substantial increased risks for a variety of mental and physical conditions and often complicate the management of other conditions.

•Substance use conditions are costly to the health care system and receipt of substance abuse treatment has been shown to reduce costs.

The adoption of evidence based practices for the treatment of persons with substance use conditions is an essential component of quality and efficient care.

The US Preventive Services Taskforce has ranked screening and brief intervention for alcohol use as a high priority and cost effective intervention.
Medications are available that may assist patients to reduce drinking, avoid relapse and support abstinence as well as treat opiate addiction; their use in primary care is feasible and cost effective.

•Treatment of persons with substance use conditions in primary and other medical care settings provides also increases patient choice for being treated in the most comfortable setting.

Integrating substance abuse treatment into primary care and other medical settings is feasible and a variety of integration models can be successfully implemented with diverse patient populations.

•Models may vary along a continuum of integration from increased coordination, physical co-location to full integration.

•Type of services provided may also vary according to the relative intensity of the need of patients for behavioral health and physical health services, as reflected in the four quadrant model.

•Integration can also be described by processes such as the Five A's (Assess, Advise, Agree, Assist and Arrange), needed to identify and assist persons with substance use conditions in primary care and other medical settings.

•The person centered health home in which a team provides continuous and comprehensive care across all elements of the complex health system reflects highly integrated care and is an appropriate model for patients with complex needs.

Successful integration of the treatment of substance use conditions within primary care and other medical settings may require new or refashioned types of workers, including:

•Health educators

•Primary care behavioral health specialists

•Expanded role care managers •Consultation-liaison clinicians

The current substance abuse treatment workforce may not be sufficient in number or have all of the skills necessary to function in an integrated environment.

•Counselor licensure/certification requirements are less for substance abuse counselors in comparison to mental health counselors.

•Requirements for substance abuse counselor licensure/certification vary substantially across states and likely do not include preparation related to physical health conditions or working in settings other than substance abuse specialty treatment. National competencies and certification has not been adopted.

•The majority of members of the core disciplines (physicians, nurses, social workers, psychologists, physician's assistants and others) are also likely to have insufficient training in addiction.

•Physicians report barriers to the use of medication assisted treatment and screening and brief intervention, including not feeling comfortable in managing all components of either type of intervention.

•It is essential that the availability of peer support be maintained as treatment for substance use conditions is integrated into primary and other medical care settings.

The ongoing differences in the demographics of the workforce and patient population suggest that training in cultural competence will be important.
Curricula which treat substance use conditions similarly to other chronic disorders and provide more adequate basic preparation across all disciplines need to be implemented.

Continuing education and an organizational commitment to change is needed to overcome barriers to the adoption of evidence based practices for the treatment of substance use condition and to work in an integrated environment.

•Continuing education and training which includes post training evaluation, mentoring or supervision is more likely to be effective; training best practices should be adopted.

•Specific programs to support the broad adoption of both medication assisted treatment and screening, brief intervention and referral to treatment need to be identified and implemented.

•Effective training is accompanied by ongoing monitoring, supervision, mentoring, and other quality improvement activities, if innovations are to be adopted with fidelity.

•Training to work in teams will be essential for integration; such programs can be adapted from other fields, but will need some tailoring specific to healthcare and substance abuse treatment.

Integration must be supported by appropriate financing.

•There is no clear evidence that one type of financing is optimal for integrated care.

•A number of financing approaches may be workable, including capitated arrangements, ambulatory care groups, monthly payments for care management, as well as fee for service arrangements.

•Barriers to appropriate financing such as prohibition of billing for both a behavioral health and physical health visit on the same day need to be remedied and reimbursement for efficient delivery of services by a variety of clinicians embraced.

•Universal acceptance of integrated services for persons with substance use disorders by both public and private insurance will facilitate billing and reimbursement within a fee for service environment.

In the near term, a number of components will be key to successful integration of the treatment of substance use disorders in primary care and other medical settings:

•All health care disciplines need to have adequate basic training in the disease of addiction, the nature of substance abuse treatment and how to work in complex team settings.

•Counselors who are the backbone of the substance abuse treatment workforce need a certification/licensure process which is more standardized and reflects the appropriate competencies.

•The adoption of two specific evidence based practices appropriate for primary care and other medical settings, screening, brief intervention and referral to treatment and medication assisted treatment is critical to the future of integration. Support will be required to ensure adoption.

•A substantial investment will be required in training the existing and new workforce to work in complex teams; evidence based training will be necessary to ensure positive outcomes.

Introduction:

This paper builds on a number of recent papers and reports about the integration of substance abuse treatment into primary care and other health care settings. In one report, Collins and others described in some detail a number of existing mental health and substance abuse integration models along a continuum of integration.¹ Another recent paper on issues related to substance use disorders and the person centered health care home; the paper organizes integrated provider activities within the four quadrant patient model². Resulting from a series of policy forum supported by the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), two reports more specifically targeting the integration of substance abuse treatment into primary and other medical care settings were developed. These forums explored the current status and models of integration of substance abuse, and identified what states and counties saw as facilitators and barriers to successful integration efforts.^{3,4}

Each of these reports recognized the workforce challenges associated with behavioral health integration. Collins and others often listed workforce issues as barriers to implementation. For example, challenges listed for a simple coordinated care model of integration, included the lack of providers to whom a primary care clinician can refer and the lack of necessary skills for screening for behavioral health among medical providers.⁵ Alternatively, Mauer identified the need for increased skills for screening for and support of appropriate primary care substance abuse services as well as the need for additional training in evidence based practices for substance use conditions and health conditions within the specialty substance abuse treatment workforce. Expansion of screening, brief intervention, referral and treatment services within primary care is seen as one way that the Affordable Care Act can improve access to care for substance abuse disorders.⁶

The second policy forum report cited workforce development as critical to the integration of substance abuse into primary care and other medical settings.⁷ One major theme was the need to provide whatever supports necessary to primary care and other medical settings in providing appropriate screening and intervention for substance use conditions, including the development, credentialing, and continuing education of new types of professionals as well as the availability of consultation and liaison from specialty providers. The need for continuing education of existing specialty staff for treatment of substance use disorders shifted to practice in other health care settings was cited; training in team skills, medical conditions, and competencies in care coordination, assessment and brief treatment and medication assisted treatment will be required. Another major theme was the need for standardized curricula regarding substance abuse and addiction, including the use of medications and medication management for substance use conditions for each of the core professions, including medicine, social work, nursing, psychology and counseling. Further, the need to develop and retain recovery support and peer to peer services within the treatment system was seen as crucial, along with reimbursement strategies to support the full range of the workforce and settings.

The purpose of this report is to provide a context and expanded discussion of the workforce issues related to the integration of substance abuse into primary care and other health care settings. This paper provides a review of the critical importance of integration and outlines a number of schemes for conceptually organizing integrated models, including the person centered health care home and associated challenges. The author goes on to estimate the size and characterize the background of the current substance abuse treatment workforce and briefly describe new types of workers or expanded roles of current workers. The paper closes with a discussion of major existing workforce needs and ways in which these might be addressed.

The Critical Importance of Integration:

As health care reform moves forward, it is critically important there be greater integration of substance use condition screening and treatment/intervention in general health care. First and foremost, a large group of persons do not qualify for a diagnosis of a substance use disorder but are at risk for such a disorder. Almost one in five adults in an HMO primary care sample met the criteria for risky drinking promulgated by the National

Institute of Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism of the National Institutes of Health.⁸ More recently, McClellan suggested the group with unhealthy use may represent tens of millions of people.⁹ Since this large group of persons at risk does not come to and are not appropriate for SA specialty care settings, they must be identified and assisted to modify their use and reduce their substance use elsewhere in the health care system (i.e. primary care and other medical care settings).

Primary care is the setting that offers the health care system access to the most people, and behavioral health is the area in which most impact on morbidity and mortality can be achieved.¹⁰

The fact that a large majority of persons with substance use disorders do not seek or receive treatment in the specialty care substance abuse treatment system is well known. According to the 2009 National Survey on Drug Use and Health, of the almost 21 million people who needed treatment for illicit drug or alcohol use but did not receive it, 94% did not feel they needed treatment.¹¹ Persons who needed but did not receive treatment reported their lack of treatment receipt was related to 1) not being ready to stop using or thinking that they could handle the problem on their own (51%), 2) having no health coverage and unable to afford the cost (34%), 3) possible negative effect on job or neighbors/ community (24%) and/ or 4) not knowing where to get treatment (11%). McLellan has recently suggested that part of this denial has to do with the stigmatization and segregation of the substance abuse treatment system from the rest of medical care.

Substance use conditions are associated with a higher risk for a variety of other medical disorders. This increased risk ranges from doubling the risk for hypertension and lower back pain, to a 9 times greater risk of congestive heart failure and a 12 times greater risk of liver cirrhosis. The risks for acid related peptic disorder, arthritis, chronic obstructive, pulmonary disease, headache, hepatitis C, and injuries and overdoses also increase. In addition, patients with narcotic addiction have more than 12 times the risk of developing pneumonia.¹² Substance use conditions are not infrequent among those with disabilities¹³; disabled non-elderly Medicare beneficiaries were more likely (17%) than elderly Medicare claimants (6%) to receive detoxification services, a reflection of the severity of their substance use problems.¹⁴ Injection drug users are almost ten times more likely and crack smokers more than twice as likely to become positive for HIV in comparison to non-drug using controls.¹⁵

Although absolute estimates may vary depending on the definitions, methods and populations involved, mental and substance use disorders also co-occur, complicating the treatment of each. SAMHSA's National Survey on Drug use and Health estimated that of 17.5 million adults who had a serious mental illness in the past year, 4 million were also dependent on or abused alcohol or an illicit drug.¹⁶ A more recent report from the same survey highlights the relationship between inhalant use and episodes of major depression among youths, aged 12-17.¹⁷ Using claims data , others have estimated that about 20% of patients with schizophrenia also have a co-occurring substance use disorder.¹⁸ When the prevalence of mental disorders in a sample of patients in chemical dependency treatment in an HMO were compared to matched controls, patients with substance use disorders

were more than 18 times more likely to have a major psychosis, almost 15 times more likely to have depression, and almost nine times more likely to have an anxiety disorder.¹⁹ Poorer outcomes and higher costs are associated with co-occurring mental and substance use disorders.²⁰

Substance use disorders can complicate the management of other chronic disorders, such as HIV/AIDS, diabetes, hypertension, and others. A number of researchers have reported that that persons with HIV/AIDS who reported drug and alcohol use were more likely to be non-adherent to antiretroviral treatment.^{21,22,23} Others have reported that poorer adherence to medications for Type 2 diabetes are related to substance use disorder, depression and medical co-morbidities.²⁴ Persons with substance use conditions are also more likely to receive inadequate care for their physical health problems. Only half of the patients in substance abuse treatment reported having a usual source of medical care ²⁵ and the quality of care they receive may be low.²⁶ While linkages between substance abuse treatment organizations and primary care and/or mental health organizations are a possible pathway to improving the integration of substance abuse treatment, one study of 62 outpatient substance abuse treatment units showed that these linkages were limited.²⁷ Barriers cited included client's financial problems, managed care restrictions and limited organizational capacity.

Moreover, there is general agreement that new types of patients with a broad range of substance use conditions will be identified as a result of changes in health insurance coverage as part of the Affordable Care Act and that patients are likely to need services not currently available in either the specialty or primary care systems. For example, Washington State has proposed expanding the use of brief intervention strategies for substance abusing clients who are not yet dependent, as a way to deal with the Medicaid expansion that will result from health care reform, so that the substance abuse treatment system is not overwhelmed.²⁸

Substance use conditions, especially when untreated, are costly to the health care system. One study of Medicaid beneficiaries readmitted within 30 days of discharge found that substance use disorders were among the top five diagnoses associated with readmission, accounting for almost 10% of readmissions.²⁹ For the elderly, the rate of alcohol related admissions are similar to the admission rate for heart attacks.³⁰ Receipt of substance abuse treatment has been shown to decrease medical care costs significantly,³¹ to more than pay for itself in savings,³² and investments in expanding access to treatment for persons with substance use disorders may be one effective way of reducing the trend toward increased health care costs.³³

Adopting Evidence Based Practices: Improving access to and the quality of substance abuse treatment in primary care settings

The use of evidence based practices, including the use of appropriate medication is an essential component of efficient and high quality care. New medications have been developed to treat substance use disorders along with the expectation that substance abuse treatment availability can be expanded thru the application of these practices in

primary care and other medical settings. In addition to expanding the availability of substance abuse services, their movement into primary care and other medical settings provides patients with a choice of treatment setting; some patients may be much more comfortable receiving treatment for a substance use condition within a medical setting. Three medications are currently approved and available for the treatment of alcohol dependence in primary care and other medical care settings: naltrexone, acamprosate and disulfram. They can help patients reduce drinking, avoid relapse to heavy drinking and support the maintenance of abstinence^{34,35} and their use in primary care is feasible.³⁶ A recent report indicated that patients treated with alcoholism medications had fewer inpatient detoxification days, other alcoholism related inpatient days and alcoholism-related emergency room visits and lower costs over a six month period when compared to those who did not receive medication.³⁷ However, these medications are significantly under-utilized.³⁸

In addition, burprenorphine for the treatment of opiate addiction became available in 2002. Because the regulations governing the use of buprenorphine for the treatment of opiate addiction allow for specially certified primary care and other physicians to provide office based treatment for opiate addiction, buprenorphine is seen as both an opportunity to significantly expand the availability of treatment for opioid addiction; it also offers patients a choice of a less stigmatized setting (in comparison to methadone programs). Primary care physicians have cited a need to develop confidence in its' use, especially during the more complex and demanding induction phase, and identified payment and reimbursement barriers. However, one study reported that primary care practitioners were the most frequent source of prescriptions for buprenorphine.³⁹ Primary care practitioners may need a variety of supports to appropriately care for patients with opioid addiction, whether specialized induction centers that begin treatment, stabilize patients and provide ongoing consultation to primary care physicians who follow these stabilized patients, or a nurse care manager to assist in monitoring patients and consulting with the physician. While these models slowly evolve, buprenorphine diffusion has also been slower to diffuse into practice than many had hoped.⁴⁰

Beyond medication-assisted treatment, the adoption of other evidence based substance abuse services appropriate to primary care and other medical settings have also lagged. The US Preventive Services Task Force has ranked screening and brief intervention for alcohol use as a high priority cost effective intervention.⁴¹ Yet, primary care physicians do not routinely screen for alcohol use conditions and offer treatment as appropriate.⁴² Neither specific screening and intervention for alcohol use⁴³ nor broad screening and intervention to deal with a wider range of behaviors (tobacco use, unhealthy diet, physical inactivity, and risky alcohol use) are consistently provided in primary care practices⁴⁴ One study estimated that only about 10% of patients with alcohol dependence were assessed and referred to appropriate care⁴⁵; another reported that only 20% of primary care physicians thought that treatment resources were adequate for early problem drinkers, and 72% preferred not to counsel these patients themselves.⁴⁶ Another found that even when physicians were aware of an illicit drug use condition in a patient, up to 15% did not intervene and only 55% offered a treatment referral.⁴⁷ Some have reported that for pediatricians, reimbursement is a primary barrier to behavioral counseling⁴⁸;

others found that physicians' perceptions of the importance of the topic, their own selfefficacy, and likely effectiveness of the counseling were more powerful influences than either the time required or reimbursement. A number of alternative models for screening, brief intervention and behavioral counseling have evolved, many of which rely on others than the physician to perform these tasks.

Substance Abuse Treatment Integration into Primary Care and Other Medical Settings: What does it look like?

While integration of medication assisted treatment and screening and brief intervention into primary care are critical to patients with substance use disorders, there are many varied and successful models of integration of substance use and physical health care. This section provides a brief overview of integration efforts and processes including the integration continuum, the four quadrant model, the five A's, and the person centered medical or health care home. Integration efforts can run the gamut from early steps such as improved communication between practitioners in primary care and specialty substance abuse treatment to collocation or to full integration, where the patient experiences a health care team which includes both mental health and substance use treatment services. Early evidence suggests that integrated care improve outcomes and in some instances can lower costs for specific patient populations.^{49,50} Comprehensive descriptions of specific model programs in which substance abuse treatment is coordinated or integrated with primary and other medical care are largely not included in this paper; readers interested in that information should consult the two reports from the Policy Forums on Integration, sponsored by SAMHSA.⁵¹ Collins and others describe eight different models of integration across the integration continuum (listed here in a progression from least to most integrated- not all of these may be appropriate to substance abuse treatment):

- improved collaboration,
- medical provided behavioral health care (consultative support from BH specialist),
- co-location (separate entities, but in same location/facility),
- disease management (close collaboration, some shared systems, regular contact between providers),
- reverse co-location (some medical care professional added to BH team)
- unified primary care and behavioral health (on same team),
- primary care behavioral health with close collaboration in a fully integrated system,
- collaborative systems of care with full or partial integration.⁵²

It is important to note that in real world implementation, attributes of one or another model are often combined. The choice of model will be influence by a number of factors including, the existing array and capacity of services available in a community, the population that is targeted for services, patient preferences (which setting are they more likely to accept care in), the skills of the workforce as well as reimbursement factors and others.⁵³

Another view of the possible organization of integrated services is the four quadrant model.⁵⁴ (See Appendix A). The four quadrant model was originally developed to facilitate discussion of care needs of patients with co-occurring mental health and substance use disorders. Mauer proposed that the four quadrant model could also be used to describe the types of needs patients had for care for mental and substance use conditions, and physical health conditions, as well as some integrated care practices appropriate to each quadrant of patients. For example, even patients with low needs for care for both substance use and other health conditions (Quadrant I) may require screening and brief intervention delivered in a primary care setting. On the other end of the spectrum, patients with high needs for care for both substance use and other health conditions (Quadrant IV) may require specialty care, including hospitalization, detoxification or residential care, for their substance use condition, which will need to be coordinated with their other medical care for optimal outcomes to be achieved. In some settings, such as residential care or social detoxification, it might make sense to bring medical care into the specialty setting, but in the main bringing behavioral health expertise into medical settings is more common. Consistent with the notion of "stepped care", patients initially seen in Quadrant IV could be expected to transition to outpatient specialty care and continue to require some care coordination or management for their medical needs (Quadrant II). But it is possible those with other significant chronic medical problems, could also be managed within a primary care practice with a strong behavioral health component. Patients with high needs for care for a substance use condition, but low needs for care for other types of health conditions) may also initially need specialty care, but may be able to transition back to a primary care setting with behavioral support as their clinical status changes.

The Five A's is an organizational construct endorsed by the US Preventive Services Task Force for behavioral counseling interventions in medical care. The Five A's describe the processes that must take place: Assess, Advise, Agree, Assist, and Arrange; and imply that these process tasks may be performed by either the primary physician or shared with other healthcare staff.⁵⁵ One full integration model with special significance within the context of health reform and incorporates substance use conditions as well as other health conditions is the person centered health care home. The concept of a person centered health care home (PCHC) reflects a shift from intermittent, acute care focused health interventions which are likely to be uncoordinated or poorly articulated to management of the broad healthcare of specific patient populations, with an emphasis on those with chronic health conditions.⁵⁶ The promise of health care homes is in improving health care outcomes while containing costs. While some have proposed health homes for all types of patients with mental health and substance use disorders, others have suggested that it is important to target patients with multiple chronic disorders and related high costs.⁵⁷ Thus, patients in quadrant IV with their chronic high behavioral and physical health needs are also likely to have lower medication adherence, a substantial incidence of co-occurring alcohol and drug abuse problems, complex medical plans and lack a stable medical home⁵⁸ should be high priority candidates for person centered health homes, as described within the Accountable Care Act. While it might be appropriate that some patients with serious mental disorders have a primary care home within a mental health setting with integrated medical and health care services, it is expected that the majority of health care

homes will have strong behavioral health components that will allow for the treatment of patients with multiple behavioral and physical health conditions within a primary care or other medical care setting.

The American Academy of Family Physicians, American Academy of Pediatrics, American College of Physicians and the American Osteopathic Association have agreed on seven principles to describe the characteristics of the PCHC. These reflect that each patient has an ongoing relationship with a personal physician, who along with the patient and the health care team, advocates for patients, and is responsible for addressing all the patient's health care needs using evidence based practices, either directly or by coordinating care with other qualified professionals. Care is coordinated and or integrated across the complex health care system; such coordination is facilitated by registries, information technology and health information exchange while other technologies such as clinical support systems may be used to facilitate quality care. Physician directed teams are accountable for continuous quality improvement; and involve patients and families in quality improvement activities.⁵⁹

Many of the reports have pointed out that primary care and other medical care settings have a different culture and language than the substance abuse treatment system. Primary care is characterized by a fast pace of brief interactions with patients, a high volume of patients, a setting where interruptions are okay, and constant balancing of needs and priorities is essential. The specialty substance abuse treatment system however, focuses on the 50 minute hour, a slower pace with few emergencies (at least in most outpatient settings). Bridges of understanding will no doubt need to be built, as well as appreciation for the differences.

New workers focusing on substance use disorders in integrated care

A number of specific kinds of new workers^a may be needed to successfully integrate substance abuse treatment services into primary care and other medical settings. A number of attendees at the SAMHSA sponsored Policy Forum on Integration commented that they were experimenting with the use of different types of workers to deliver behavior change services and support primary care practitioners including, health educators, behavioral health specialists, behavioral health interventionists, health coaches, patient navigator and case managers. The importance of the availability of substance abuse treatment expertise is also recognized through a variety of systems of consultation-liaison. The health educator, behavioral health specialist, and expanded role care manager positions are briefly described, and consultation-liaison functions and systems discussed.

^a Health educators may be a relatively new introduction into the substance abuse treatment system but more than 250 academic programs in colleges and universities prepare health educators at the baccalaureate, masters and doctoral levels. National competencies for health educators exist and they are counted by the Bureau of Labor Statistics. (Source: National Commission for Health Education Credentialing, Inc., http://www.nchec.org/credentialing/profession/)

Several models for implementing universal screening for risky substance use in busy primary care practices and other medical settings have been tried, often encompassing the use of a specific worker, such as a health educator, with a designated responsibility for the provision of screening, and brief intervention. The health educator role is still evolving and may vary somewhat across different models of integration, targeted populations, and types of health care setting; in general, health educators may screen patients for risky health behaviors, such as overuse of alcohol, nicotine use and/or depression using a standardized instrument, score the screening instrument, and provide feedback and or brief intervention for appropriate patients. One example of the use of health educators is Wisconsin's Screening, Brief Intervention and Referral to Treatment Project focusing on risky substance use and tobacco use.⁶⁰ In some Wisconsin primary care sites, health educators are also used to provide monitoring and support for patients receiving medication assisted treatment for substance abuse within primary care settings; primary care practitioners reinforce the health educator interventions and provide pharmacotherapy for patients as appropriate. Health educators use the same tools and interventions but the exact tasks and processes may differ across settings.

Wisconsin's health educators have a bachelor's degree, 2 years of experience in human services work and 60 hours of specific training on the use of screening instruments, motivational interviewing and cultural competence. A hallmark of Wisconsin's program is the intensive clinical supervision and feedback. Beyond providing screening and brief intervention, health educators can be trained to help with other types of patients who need motivational interviewing and/ or referral or case management; they also need competencies in quality improvement, and evaluation. Wisconsin is considering additions to curricula to stretch the competencies of health educators to a broader focus on screening and intervention for on multiple chronic health issues while also grappling with how the health educator model fits with professional licensing and certification in Wisconsin. Requirements for health educators are not identical across the country. For example, California used "peer health educators" to provide screening and brief intervention in a busy emergency room serving a high proportion of Spanish speaking patients.⁶¹ Requirements for these health educators included a high school diploma, bilingual in English and Spanish, several years of work experience, preferably with public contact, but they must also be:

engaging, confident self-starters because they are going to be dealing not just with patients but with the doctors and other hospital staff.⁶²

Another type of new worker needed is the primary care behavioral health specialist.^{2, 3} Working as part of the primary care team, the primary care behavioral health specialist would work with patients who not only have mental or substance use conditions, but also assist other patients who are having difficulty making or maintaining the behavior changes necessary to their improved health. This primary care based specialist needs to be competent in the assessment, treatment (especially brief cognitive behavioral intervention and motivational interviewing skills) and service planning for persons with mental and substance use disorders as well as consultation, communication, care management, team collaboration and orientation and an understanding of chronic disease and self-care requirements Successful behavioral health specialists in primary care should also be as flexible, independent and oriented to action and solution rather than process, along with having strong organizational and computer competencies. While it is likely that only large primary care practices could incorporate such a worker, sharing a worker across smaller practices or co-locating such services is another feasible approach. One study of behavioral health providers within integrated care settings showed that the types of interventions employed included medical management, psycho-education, elements of cognitive behavioral therapy and supportive psychotherapy.⁶³

A third type of worker with a role in integrated substance abuse treatment services is an expanded care manager. Care management has been defined as:

A set of activities designed to assist patients and their support system in managing medical conditions and related psychological problems more effectively.⁶⁴

Care managers may not be appropriate for all patients, but patients with multiple chronic conditions, certain types of chronic conditions, or patients who use a significant amount of high cost (and not necessarily appropriate care) are high priority patients for care management. Massachusetts used state funds to deploy nurse care mangers in 19 community health centers, each of which is partnered with a substance abuse specialty treatment provider. Because of their expertise in managing a specific population, such as persons with opiate addiction being treated with buprenorphine, these care managers also provide significant physician support for opiate treatment within primary care. Care mangers may serve a range of functions for a specific population of patients, including patient management care coordination, increasing self-efficacy in patients, tracking patients on a registry, linking patients with needed resources, consultation with health professionals and others.

Additionally, one old professional role is in the process of being resurrected in new ways: the consultation-liaison clinician. The consultation liaison role is concerned with the diagnosis, and treatment of the physically ill and generally involved contact with a patient for a problem, along with collaborative and educational work with the primary caregivers, including physicians, nurses and others.⁶⁵ With its origins in acute care inpatient settings and psychiatrists, consultation liaison work has been broadened to that practiced by teams or clinicians, who may include psychologists, nurses, social workers and substance abuse treatment counselors. In some settings, substance abuse consultation teams are used to evaluate and intervene with patients, such as trauma victims.⁶⁶

The role of the consultation-liaison clinician also encompasses specific mentoring of other clinicians as they build confidence in the application of new practices; treating patients with buprenorphine is an example of one such process. A number of approaches have been taken to providing individualized expert advice to primary care physicians in relation to substance abuse treatment. The American Academy of Addiction Psychiatry and its partners, the American Osteopathic Academy of Addiction Medicine, and the American Psychiatric Association jointly sponsor an on line physician clinical support system supported by the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Administration; in addition to notices about trainings and easily accessible on--line resources, the site offers to link primary care physicians with mentors at no cost to assist with the appropriate use of buprenorphine.⁶⁷ A similar site exists for primary care physicians who want help with how to address alcohol, tobacco and drug screening and brief intervention and treatment referral in primary care settings.⁶⁸

San Francisco County, California significantly expanded the availability of treatment for opiate addiction through the use of buprenorphine in primary care and other medical settings by stretching the consultation-liaison model even further. In order to provide support to physicians and clinics, San Francisco County initiated a public health buprenorphine induction center, which includes consultation-liaison services with specialty physicians and a county behavioral health pharmacy. The opiate buprenorphine induction center trains practicing physicians as well as residents, hoping to create a new group of physicians knowledgeable about substance use disorders. With the reduction of the burdens related to buprenorphine induction, and the availability of ongoing consultation, San Francisco County has significantly increased access to treatment.⁶⁹

Wherever a medical care home for a patient is located in the health care system, it should be clear that the health care team must have the capacity to serve the needs of persons with substance use conditions and to work within that setting; ensuring that the workforce has the appropriate competencies is a key challenge to success. As all of these new types of practitioners and roles evolve, it will be important to come to some national consensus on titles, requirements and curricula for basic training, licensure, certification and continuing education.

Creative retooling and repurposing of the existing specialty workforce for treatment of substance use disorders will be required to support integration, with some workers in significantly expanded and changed roles and broader competencies. Leaps will need to be made in the adoption of evidence based practices, team work skills and collaboration. New or expanded roles and types of workers are also likely to be needed to facilitate integration, including health educators, behavioral health specialists, and care managers.

The substance abuse treatment workforce will not be singly affected by this sea change. For example, the American Academy of Pediatrics has identified a goal of pediatricians having the competencies to provide both mental health and substance abuse services in pediatric primary care settings.⁷⁰ However, Van Hook and others identified a number of barriers to screening teens for substance abuse in primary care; which included insufficient time, lack of training in how to manage a positive screen, need to triage competing problems, lack of sufficient treatment resources, parents who would not leave the room for the confidential discussion, and unfamiliarity with screening tools.⁷¹ These are not significantly different than what has been reported for adult primary care.

The Current Substance Abuse Treatment Workforce: Implications for Integrated Care

A number of recent reports have been issued which focus on the behavioral health workforce. One addressed the development of a national action plan to remedy the insufficient behavioral health workforce, difficulties in recruiting and retaining staff, limited access to appropriate and effective training, the erosion of supervision and critical leadership and broken and inadequate reimbursement systems.⁷² A second report, *Strengthening Professional Identity: Challenges of the Addictions Treatment Workforce* limited its scope to only the substance abuse treatment workforce.⁷³ Both reports contain somewhat similar recommendations in areas particularly germane to this report; among other areas, both identified the need to expand recruitment and retention to address worker shortages, as well as to improve access to and the quality of training available, especially in relation to implementation of evidence based practices.

The substance abuse treatment workforce includes physicians (including psychiatrists), social workers, nurses, psychologists, counselors, providers of recovery support services and others. Providers of substance abuse treatment are varied in terms of their formal training and degrees as well as certification specific to substance abuse treatment. One key aspect of working collaboratively is to have some understanding about the background and skills of those on your team.

One assessment of the size and professional characteristics of the workforce was published in a 1997 Institute of Medicine report and is presented in Table 1.⁷⁴ Table 1 also reflects the relative small number of "addiction specialists" across all disciplines. Another national estimate of the workforce based on outpatient, residential and methadone treatment sites and data collected in 2000, found 67,400 workers directly involved in psychosocial treatment services, an additional 80-90,000 medical and administrative staff, and 17,000 other behavioral health professionals.⁷⁵ Others, also

Discipline	Workforce size	Certified Addiction Specialist
Primary Care MD	700,000	2,790 ASAM certified
Psychiatry	30,000	1.067 addictions psychiatrists
Clinical Psychology	69,800	950 APA certified
Social Work	300,000	29,400 (self-described SA specialist)
Nursing	2,200,000	4,100 (self -described SA specialist)
Physician assistant	27,500	185 (self-described specialist)
Marriage/Family		
Counselors	50,000	2500 (self-described specialist)

Table 1. Number of Practitioners and Certified Addictions Specialists, by Health Care Discipline.

Source: Institute of Medicine (IOM), *Managing Managed Care: Quality Improvements in Behavioral Health*, (Washington, DC: National Academy Press, 1997).

using data from 2000, have estimated that the national total of substance abuse treatment direct services staff is likely to be greater than 130,000 swelling to approximately 200,000 individuals if medical and administrative staff numbers are added.⁷⁶

Many individual states have compiled basic workforce statistics thru the regional Addiction technology transfer centers (ATTC's). Established in 1993 and funded by SAMHSA, the Addiction Technology Transfer Centers are a network of regional centers that focus on raising awareness of evidence based treatment practices and building skills in the workforce to improve practice in the addictions treatment and recovery services field. Using the New England States as a convenience sample, Maine⁷⁷, Vermont⁷⁸, New Hampshire⁷⁹, Connecticut⁸⁰ and Massachusetts⁸¹, reported that the largest proportion of direct substance abuse treatment service providers were addiction counselors, accounting for at least two thirds of the workforce. Most recently the Bureau of Labor Statistics estimated that in 2008, there were 86,100 individuals employed as counselors (employed in all types of settings- not just substance abuse treatment settings) in 2008. They also projected growth of 18% in the ten years between 2008 and 2018 and suggested that the number of jobs would exceed the number of graduates from counseling programs.⁸²

• Substance Abuse Treatment Counselors

Because counselors are the backbone of the SA treatment workforce, their training and background is important. While combined into one occupational code by the Bureau of Labor Statistics, many have identified that mental health and substance abuse counselors often have quite different approaches to the problems they encounter. Training for mental health treatment has largely taken place within mainstream educational pathways while at least initially, persons recovering from addictions, often became the providers of addiction treatment and developed substantial clinical knowledge through their experience.⁸³ However, one national study of the substance abuse treatment workforce found that almost 3 of 4 counselors in substance abuse treatment programs had a bachelor's degree and 72% were certified or licensed as substance abuse/mental health professionals.⁸⁴ These researchers hypothesized that increased managed care and a focus on supporting evidence based practices has resulted in an increase in "formal education" for addiction counselors. Libretto and others also estimated that about 71% of counselors had at least a college education.⁸⁵ However, at least for some states in the one region assessed, between 12% (Vermont) and 49% (Connecticut) of direct care staff reported less than a bachelor's degree; it appears that in some states, associate degree preparation is likely (for example 28% of Connecticut's workforce reported an associate degree as their highest degree).

Sixty six organizations are involved in the licensing and credentialing of substance abuse treatment counselors across the United States.⁸⁶ Findings from a study of requirements for counselor certification or licensure for substance abuse counselors in comparison to mental health counselors show that on almost every level, generally more was required of mental health counselors than counselors in substance abuse. For example, only about ¹/₂ of the states required a specific credential for a substance abuse in comparison to 85% for

a mental health counselor; almost all states (98%) required a master's degree to qualify as a mental health counselor; 45% of states did not require any college degree to qualify as a substance abuse counselor. Substantial differences in the same direction were also observed for minimum degree requirements, hours of coursework, practicum or training hours; the requirements for substance abuse counselors only exceeded that of mental health counselors in the amount of supervised work experience required prior to credentialing. While a consensus model for national core competencies for addictions counselors exists⁸⁷, these standards have not been universally adopted. Included in this consensus model are knowledge and attitudes needed by all disciplines working in the addiction field and specific competencies for addictions counselors in clinical evaluation, treatment planning, referral, service coordination, counseling, client, family and community education, documentation, and professional and ethical responsibilities.

With a specific view towards integration, it is important to note that only nine states had a minimum requirement for courses related to health and disease for substance abuse counselors and only two states for mental health counselors. No minimum requirements were observed that focused specifically on teamwork or communication with other professionals, but twenty-two states did include minimum course requirements in professional ethics, responsibilities and preparation. Some have called for more uniformity in state credentialing for both mental health and substance abuse counselors.⁸⁸

Licensing and credentialing is an important state function. It ensures a minimum level of quality, encourages consumer confidence, and provides safeguards against poor practices that could harm clients. Beyond the development and adoption of national accreditation standards for counselors, it is important to note that at least among the New England states, a significant proportion (ranging from a high of 55% to a low of 17%) of direct substance abuse care workforce (across all disciplines) did not report having current or pending licensure or certification.

Most states (90%) require continuing education for recertification for substance abuse counselors but the majority does not have very specific requirements about its content. Only one state required continuing education in health issues for mental health counselors; two states had this requirement for substance abuse counselors.⁸⁹ In one study of regional training needs, the following were identified as high priority: 1) co-occurring mental health and substance use conditions; 2) treating special populations; 3) treatment models; 4) relationship between substance abuse and other medical problems; 5) treatment methods and 6) substance abuse and addiction models. Interestingly, respondents thought they were highly proficient and (therefore) had low interest in training included interpersonal communication skills, and referral skills.⁹⁰ Across all disciplines, lack of time was seen as the most frequent barrier to continuing education, but both counselors and social workers also reported client needs, poor resources, policies and procedures and the need for more training as barriers.

• Social Workers: Mental Health and Substance Abuse Practice

The Bureau of Labor Statistics estimated that in 2009, there were 137,300 mental health and substance abuse social workers and employment opportunities for this type of social worker were expected to grow twenty percent, from 2008 to 2018 (separate statistics for substance abuse were not available).⁹¹ The New England states reported some part of the direct service providers were social workers, but the range varied from eleven percent of the workforce in Vermont to a high of 25% in two states, Maine and Massachusetts. One national study of social workers⁹² found that only 2% of social workers responded that addiction was their primary practice area; an additional 14% said that it was their secondary or tertiary practice area. Nine of ten social workers indicated they had experience in providing mental health services; 55% reported current involvement with mental health; 39% reported mental health as their primary practice area. Yet almost three fourths (71%) reported taking one of more actions relating to substance abuse in the preceding year. Social workers who worked in mental health settings reported that they frequently worked as part of a team (results not reported separately for substance abuse treatment settings). A core skill among social workers is assisting clients to identify needed community services and so these competencies may place social workers in prime positions to be used as care mangers.

With regard to training in substance use disorders, 81% of social workers reported that they had received some kind of education/training at some point in their lifetime; 68% indicated that they received that training as continuing education. Slightly more than 1/3 said they received substance abuse training as part of their academic program and the majority of those through clinical supervision.⁷⁷ In one an assessment of substance abuse training needs in social workers employed in substance abuse treatment agencies in New England, Hall and others found that respondents reported considerable need for additional training, especially in assessment, advanced clinical techniques and dual diagnoses. ⁹³ Only 1% reported completing a specific substance abuse certification program.

• Psychologists

According to the Bureau of Labor Statistics, in 2008, 170,200 psychologists were employed across the nation. Of these 21% worked in health care settings, including substance abuse treatment settings and 34% were self-employed.⁹⁴ Psychology as a professional discipline was reported in the convenience sample of all the New England States but Connecticut, and ranged from fourteen to twenty percent of the state's SA workforce. BLS estimated average growth in demand for psychologists, noting that doctoral preparation with an applied specialty, such as healthcare will be in most demand and opportunities for persons with bachelor's or master's degrees in psychology will have less opportunity. While some have suggested that psychologists play a major role in integration of behavioral health into primary care, we need to better understand their role related to substance use conditions.

• Registered Nurses and Advanced Practice Nurses

It is difficult to estimate both the number and types registered nurses specifically prepared for practice in the addictions treatment field. Registered nurses are most often prepared at the associate and bachelor's degree. The Bureau of Labor Statistics recently estimated that about 2.6 million registered nurses were employed and that the majority of these are employed in hospitals. However, employment in outpatient settings, such as physician offices, is expected to be one of the fastest growing settings for opportunities for nurses over the ten year period, 2008 to 2018.⁹⁵ In the New England regional study of the SA workforce, nursing was reported as a professional discipline in direct service within a substance abuse treatment agency in only two (Maine and Massachusetts) of the five states and in each of these States was about 12% of the direct service workforce. Compilation of all the Addiction Technology Transfer Center (ATTC) workforce statistics are beyond the scope of this report, but these data from one region suggest that beyond counselors, there may be significant state to state variation in the types and proportions of different practitioners in the existing SA treatment workforce.

Advanced practice nurses (APRN's), who are prepared at the master's level, may be certified as psychiatric mental health nurses and may practice either as clinical nurse specialists, or psychiatric mental health nurse practitioners. While the number of either registered nurses or advanced practice nurses working specifically in substance abuse treatment are not known, 79,638 advance practice nurses with a psychiatric/mental health clinical specialty were reported as working in hospitals, and 53,130 in non-hospital settings in 2008.⁹⁶

Advanced practice nurses are highly qualified clinicians who provide costeffective, accessible , patient centered care and have the education to provide the range of services at the heart of the health reform movement, including care coordination, chronic care management, and wellness and preventive care.⁹⁷

APRN's integrate substance abuse and medical conditions into their critical activities; one recent study found that performance of a risk assessment including substance use behaviors and life threatening physical conditions was endorsed as the second most critical work activity for such advanced practice nurses.⁹⁸ Some have suggested that the most appropriate model for advanced practice is the psychiatric-primary care nurse practitioner, who is prepared to provide comprehensive health services in either psychiatric or primary care settings.⁹⁹ Nurses at both the basic and advanced practice level may also apply for certification specific to addictions nursing, sponsored by the Addictions Nursing Certification, certification and education has recently been endorsed by multiple specialty nursing organizations¹⁰¹ and a blueprint for the development of the psychiatric mental health advanced practice nurse workforce to support the development of an integrated model of behavioral health care has been created.¹⁰²

• Physicians

In 2008, the Bureau of Labor Statistics estimated that physicians and surgeons held about 661,400 jobs¹⁰³, while the Health Resources Services Administration (HRSA) estimated about 817,000 active physicians under the age of 75.¹⁰⁴ In 2007, the American Medical Association estimated that 32% of physicians were in primary care and another 10% in pediatrics. Over the period, 2008 to 2018, the Bureau of Labor Statistics estimated that physician employment would grow 22 percent, much faster than for most other occupations. HRSA noted a modest shortfall in the supply of physicians which could accentuate the existing geographic variations in supply. Physicians have been found to be poorly trained and oriented towards the detection and treatment of substance abuse conditions. Only about twenty percent of physicians reported that they were very prepared to discuss drug and alcohol issues with their patients.¹⁰⁵

One national study estimated that only about 56 percent of residency programs require training in substance use disorder, and that when required, the median hours of training ranged from 3 to 12 hours.¹⁰⁶ Despite the expanding awareness of the importance of substance abuse as a chronic health condition, education about substance abuse remains disproportionately low, when compared to other chronic conditions.¹⁰⁷

In 2010, the Bureau of Labor Statistics estimated that there were 22,600 jobs held by psychiatrists. (Data are not reported separately for addiction specialists). Psychiatry has been reported to be the fifth largest medical specialty; the supply of child psychiatrists has grown more than general psychiatrists over the years.¹⁰⁸ Although the IOM reported slightly less than 3000, physicians certified in addiction medicine in 1997, this number is currently estimated to be about 5000 addiction specialist physicians.¹⁰⁹ Soyka and Gorelik however, observed that 1/3 of those with specialized certification in addiction medicine are not practicing in the field and that there have been fewer applicants for training and certification in addiction. General psychiatry residents who attended a one day seminar had d improved attitudes about being able to help a patient with substance abuse, though the extent to which these positive results translate into different practices was unknown.¹¹¹

• Physician Assistants

The extent to which physician's assistants are specifically involved in the provision of substance abuse treatment services is unknown; none of the respondents in the New England region identified themselves as a physician's assistant. The BLS estimated that in 2008, physician assistants held about 74,800 jobs in 2008 and projected that by 2018 employment would grow by 39%.¹¹² In 2000, about 42% of the accredited physician assistant programs were at the master's degree level¹¹³; in 2007 another study reported that this trend has accelerated, with 79% of the accredited programs offering a master's degree curriculum.¹¹⁴

Other professional disciplines that specialty treatment workers across the New England area identified as their primary discipline include marriage and family therapists, adolescent treatment, criminal justice and other counseling disciplines.

• Recovery Support Specialists

Recovery support is also an important service for persons with substance use disorders. Recovery peer support workers are involved in advocating for the needs of the patient, assisting the patient to navigate the treatment system, and serving as a mentor for the patient in achieving sobriety. Specific estimates for the number of recovery support specialists working in the substance abuse field could not be located. However, these workers could be considered as included in broader job classification in the Bureau of Labor Statistics of Social and Human Service Assistants; BLS estimated that in 2008 there were 352,000 workers employed as social and human service assistants. BLS forecasted the need for an additional 23% of workers in this occupation by 2018.¹¹⁵

The Health Services Resource Administration has also defined a similar but nonequivalent group, community health workers, who provide a wide range of supportive services including interpretation and translation services, provision of health information and education, informal culturally appropriate counseling on health, assistance with access to care, and advocacy related to health. A 2000 survey of these workers, estimated that there were about 86,000 community health workers with a variable supply state to state. Five predominant models of care involving community health workers were identified: 1) member of health care team performing tasks delegated by a lead provider; 2) navigator of the health care system; 3) screening and health education provider; 4) outreach-enrolling-informing agent and 5) organizer. Employers of these workers had a variety of different educational requirements: 21% had a minimum of a high school education or GED while 32% expected a bachelor's degree. Most employers provided post-hire training.¹¹⁶ The majority of these workers, however, were not specifically focused on substance abuse issues; however, more than 1/3 worked with patients with HIV/AIDS.

Recovery peer support workers in substance abuse can apply for certification in some states; Florida¹¹⁷ is one example. Certification requirements in Florida require a minimum of a high school diploma or general equivalency degree (GED), 1000 hours of volunteer or paid work in the addiction field, 75 hours of training, with detailed specification of what that training needs to include, passing a written examination, and submitting references.

Beyond the challenge of inadequate size, uneven preparation, and varying requirements for licensure or certification, especially for counselors and peer support specialists, the demographics of the workforce also suggest some challenges. A number of studies have found that a substantial portion of the workforce is Caucasian middle aged women, while the patients are predominantly younger and minority males.^{118,119} In comparison to other behavioral health professionals, and licensed substance abuse counselors, unlicensed

substance abuse counselors were more likely to be African-American; unlicensed substance abuse counselors were also more likely to work in a residential rather than an outpatient setting. The disconnect between the racial and ethnic identity of providers and clients in substance abuse treatment is not news; it was reported as a workforce challenge in a 2006 report about challenges facing the addiction treatment workforce.¹²⁰ Some report the same difficulties in primary care, suggesting that cultural competence competencies will be key for both substance abuse and primary care staff.

Continuing Education/Training and Evidence-Based Practices

Some have suggested that "there are significant concerns about the capability of the workforce to provide quality care".¹²¹ Lack of training and other characteristics of the current SA workforce may present barriers to the diffusion of evidence based practices. For example, many in the current substance abuse treatment workforce have not embraced medication assisted treatment. Thomas and others found that a lack of counselor's knowledge about naltrexone was a key barrier to its use.¹²² Knudsen and others documented that substance abuse counselors were more likely to endorse buprenorphine as an effective treatment if they had received training about buprenorphine or if they reported less endorsement of a 12 step orientation.¹²³ In one study of community treatment providers, providers frequently reported that they used treatment innovations, but reported having no or minimal workshop training and only infrequent use of manuals for manualized approaches.¹²⁴ Herbek and others found that counselors were not alone in the underutilization of effective treatment approaches but that all levels of substance abuse treatment staff need more exposure to information about evidence based approaches.¹²⁵ Others have also reported that only half of the providers they surveyed knew the effectiveness of pharmacologic treatments. Understanding treatment providers' opinions about the relative effectiveness of any potential treatment is important because these opinions are likely to influence the extent to which interventions are used.¹²⁶ Even more importantly, these researchers found that training when it was ongoing and adequately funded, supported the use of evidence based practices.

In a national survey of social workers, less than half of the social workers (43%) reported they screened clients for substance use disorders while 26% endorsed assessing clients with these disorders, and 19% reported providing treatment.¹²⁷ When the substance abuse training needs of social workers employed in substance abuse treatment agencies in New England were assessed, Hall and others found that respondents reported considerable need for additional training, especially in assessment, advanced clinical techniques and dual diagnoses.¹²⁸

Another focus of innovation diffusion in substance abuse treatment has been the extent to which innovations are transferred from research models to normal clinical practice with fidelity. The robustness with which innovations are implemented can be reflected in patient outcomes and costs.¹²⁹ Fidelity to specific models of interaction can be measured and individual competence in delivery assessed.^{130,131} Some recent work has focused on identifying methods to improve this transfer, especially in regards to manualized treatments of interpersonal interaction. Martino and others found that within the context

of a National Institute on Drug Abuse Clinical Trial Network, therapists were able to deliver motivational enhancement therapy or drug counseling as usual, with fidelity following a combination of intensive expert-led workshops and program based clinical supervision and suggested that this model could improve dissemination in community treatment programs.¹³² Miller and others suggest that manuals and one time workshops are by themselves ineffective, if not coupled with performance feedback and coaching to improve clinical skills.¹³³ The New England Addiction Technology Transfer Center has reported positive outcomes in adoption of a specific evidence based practice (contingency management) by community treatment agencies through the use of an organizational change strategy, called Science to Service Laboratory.¹³⁴ A number of workforce issues emerged during the policy forums on integration sponsored by SAMHSA and are summarized in the report, Purchasing Integrated Services for Substance Use Conditions in Health Care Settings. The following themes emerged: training needed by counselors and other professionals to work in health care settings, fidelity in the application of evidence based practices, especially screening, brief intervention and motivational interviewing for substance use conditions, and for primary care workers in relation to screening and brief intervention and the use of medications for substance use disorders, and the need for cross training for some parts of each workforce. Another key workforce theme was the need to provide specialty substance abuse consultation in a framework that could make it easily usable to the primary care workforce.

Schoenwald and others have suggested that there are critical gaps not only in the knowledge, skills and competencies of the behavioral health workforce, but how work is organized and in the lack of proven strategies for workforce training and support to sustain effective services.¹³⁵ Without dramatic action being taken to change the trajectory, the substance abuse treatment workforce is likely to continue to be undermanned, to have uneven preparation and evidence based competencies to meet the demands of future patients and healthcare systems, to be culturally challenged in relating to some types of patients, to be perhaps likely to be perceived as less skilled than their mental health counterparts and with questionable team skills. Moreover counselors specifically are likely to be handicapped by their lack of acceptance of evidence based practices especially related to medication assisted treatment, training about health and disease and familiarity with processes in other health care settings.

Financing Integrated Care: Barriers and Solutions

The current methods of health care financing can be at best cumbersome or at worst a barrier to the provision of integrated care is well documented. ^{136,137} It is clear that this care and system integration cannot be initiated or sustained without aligned financial incentives; however, evidence about the most effective financing strategies for integration is lacking. ¹³⁸ While a full review of financing methodologies for integrated care is beyond the scope of this document, some issues and solutions which have been proffered or implemented are highlighted.

Organizations that receive capitated payments such as managed care organizations may have the least barriers to integrated care, as long as no carve out are included. Some health care organizations such as health maintenance organizations may already be integrated, and fewer reimbursement barriers to integrated care may exist. Organizations who receive a bundled rate may also be less constrained in the delivery of integrated care. Others have identified some purchasing options for increasing the design and rigor of contracting relationships with managed care organizations that could support integrated care. One is to contract with an existing managed care organization to develop and implement care management and coordination programs; incorporating behavioral health expertise such programs could be targeted to persons with specific types of disorders, such as persons with co-occurring mental health and substance use disorders. Going further, some have developed a public-private partnership entity which serve as the at risk care organization; this type of model allows for retention of public control of the care system for the most vulnerable, which facilitating integration.¹³⁹

Clearly, reimbursement must be available for collaboration and consultations, if integrated care is to occur. Some have suggested that reimbursement models for some behavioral health management, within the primary care setting can be developed and in a sense layered on top of existing fee for service or other payment mechanisms. While these models have been predominantly developed for depression, ¹⁴⁰ a per member per month payment, with adaptation, arrangement could cover screening and brief intervention activities or care management for persons with substance use disorders. The primary care physician's fee for medical services could remain the same. Medicaid payment innovations, notably in North Carolina and Vermont include paying networks or teams affiliated with patient centered health care homes that help connect patients to needed services and primary care providers to specialists, pharmacists and care providers. Performance based payments are also being used along with other payments to patient centered medical homes. For example, in Pennsylvania, provider practices that meet certain criteria can share in any savings generated.¹⁴¹ Missouri has changed the definition of rehabilitation services to include care coordination.

Reforming fee-for-service payments may also prove to be a viable approach. For example, in an attempt to provide more standardized payments and incentives for behavioral health services, especially outpatient services, New York adopted a payment system for Ambulatory Payment Groups. This system provides for consistent provider reimbursement and incorporates risk adjustment and intensity of services received. It also requires and pays for better collection of clinical data that can be used for care management activities and care management costs.¹⁴²

In the short term, to the extent the fee-for-service system remains, States will want to review the recommendations of a number of groups regarding same day prohibitions on Medicare and some Medicaid payments for behavioral health and physical health problems, and work with Centers for Medicaid and Medicare (CMS) to change these rules or identify possible valid "work-arounds." Because these regulations initially were related to fraud prevention, providers are extremely reluctant to bill in a way that may place them at risk, so significant outreach to provider and provider billing systems is likely to be required to enhance uptake. Beyond official policy, billing for same day claims may be rejected due to the interpretations of various Medicaid managed

companies or intermediaries who may have their own policies or interpretations. For example, Tennessee is one of 29 states that reimburse providers for separate primary care and behavioral health visit on the same day.¹⁴³ This will facilitate coordinated care, while ensuring appropriate payment.

Another barrier to reimbursement relates to the provider of the service. Within the fee for service construct, only certain members of the health care team are able to be reimbursed for certain services in certain settings. Within integrated care, it is the team that is caring for the patient. If health care is to be efficient, i.e. providing the best outcome at the lowest cost, then payment structures need to be evaluated and revised to reflect that desired result. Many have suggested that to become more efficient, all health care workers will have to function at "the top of their license" or competencies for efficiency to be realized. Similarly, as the workforce essential to efficient care coordination evolves and may include recovery coaches, health educators and others, States and other payers will want to ensure that the most efficient workforce models are able to be recognized within payment structures, while maintaining appropriate minimum standards. It is important to recognize that this can be done; while limited to mental health peer support specialists, Tennessee succeeded in having Medicaid reimburse peer support specialists.¹⁴⁴ Connecticut Medicaid will also reimburse certified recovery support specialists, supervised by a licensed clinician for services delivered in two specific programs serving persons with serious mental illness being discharged from nursing homes.¹⁴⁵

Notably, while CPT and HCPCS reimbursement codes are available for Screening, Brief Intervention, and Referral to Treatment (SBIRT), reimbursement barriers remain. Not all States have authorized Medicaid coverage of SBIRT. As part of its 2010 National Drug Control Strategy, the White House Office of Drug Control policy seeks to expand the adoption and reimbursement through the SBIRT billing codes. As SAMHSA works with the National Governor's Association, the National Association of State Medicaid Directors and the National Association of State Alcohol and Drug Abuse Directors, the fact that reimbursement is allowable only when certain types of clinicians deliver the screening and brief intervention should be addressed. While it is no doubt important that knowledgeable workers provide these services, efficient health care can only be delivered by ensuring that the level of person performing the function is not more qualified (and expensive) than what is needed to ensure quality care.

In addition, even with appropriate codes, settings, and staff, reimbursement is challenged by the lack of universal coverage by major insurers within a region, and the related consequences for medical and hospital billing systems. For example, SBIRT sites even where "codes have been turned on" have not found getting reimbursement to be straightforward or easy. Leadership and collaboration with major industry benefits groups and their consultants and fiscal intermediaries for Medicaid and Medicare, could lead to a national recognition that SBIRT is essential for health and containment of health care costs; universal acceptance would be likely to bring about change in medical billing systems. Another focus of care integration are Federally Qualified Health Centers (FQHCs). ¹⁴⁶ Along with other safety net providers in order to meet the needs of their patients, many FQHCs have evolved to provide a broad array of services. A number of SBIRT demonstration states include FQHCs, and a number of creative projects integrating physical health care and substance abuse treatment within FQHC's have also been identified. Because FQHCs to some extent receive cost reimbursement funding from HRSA, some have suggested that they are one of the best initial targets for fully integrated physical and behavioral health care.

KEY ELEMENTS FOR SUCCESS IN INTEGRATED CARE FOR SUBSTANCE USE CONDITIONS

Ensure that the core behavioral health disciplines have adequate training in the disease of addiction, the nature of substance use conditions and treatment, and how to work in a complex team as part of their basic educational program.

A recent study of mental health professionals in core disciplines (marriage and family therapist, psychiatrists, psychologists, professional counselors, substance abuse counselors, social workers) sought to assess the extent to which mental health professionals were caring for patients with primary or secondary substance abuse and to assess the need for training in substance abuse by mental health professionals.¹⁴⁷ Excluding substance abuse counselors, mental health professionals had a substantial portion of patients who had either a primary or secondary addiction problem. Psychiatrist and psychologists reported the smallest percentages of patients with primary substance use disorders, especially in private practice. Excluding psychiatrists, no more than half of any discipline reported receiving any formal graduate coursework or internship in substance abuse. Almost one third of the substance abuse counselors also reported no formal course work in addiction treatment and it appears that for almost all disciplines, continuing education is the primary mechanism for training about substance abuse.

While certification and continuing education may be able to address some of these needs as a stopgap measure for patients to receive adequate care, these results also support the need for the implementation of a standardized competencies for substance abuse in the basic preparation of the health care workforce. The core knowledge, skills and attitudes necessary have already been developed through a modified consensus process,¹⁴⁸ but the extent to which they have been implemented is unclear. The skills and competencies for working in a team also need to be identified and standardized curricula for all core disciplines need to be developed and articulated with one another to be effective. At the same time these curricula are being enhanced to appropriately encompass patient health conditions and teamwork in a complex system, the potential for expanded roles and new roles to be filled needs to be considered.

Ensure that counselors who are the backbone of the substance abuse treatment workforce have the necessary competencies and are certified to provide high quality care in an integrated health care system

The degree of variation across States in requirements for counselor licensure and certification reinforces the variability seen in basic educational programs. The degree of variation and the frequency of limited or no preparation specific to caring for persons with substance use conditions is such that it is difficult for the public and other health team members to develop clear expectations about the knowledge, skill and competencies of such a worker. While consensus exists on the counselor competencies Embodied in SAMHSA's Technical Assistance Protocol (TAP) No. 21: Addiction Counseling Competencies: The Knowledge, Skills and Attitudes of Professional Practice, these competencies have not been universally adopted.

TAP 21 should be reviewed to ensure it contains the necessary counselor competencies to practice in an integrated care setting, including training on teamwork and some basic understanding of substance abuse related medical condition and work undertaken to adopt this set of uniform competencies. In addition, national standards for accreditation of formal addictions education programs and counselor licensure and/or certification consistent with the identified competencies should be implemented. While it is clear that requirements for certification need to be balanced against the need for an adequate workforce, the fact that almost half of the workforce, is not certified, speaks for itself.

Ensure the full adoption and integration of, at minimum, two specific evidenced based practices: 1) screening, brief intervention and referral to treatment in primary care and other health care settings and 2) medication-assisted treatment in both primary care and specialty care settings.

To foster the integration of substance abuse treatment into primary care, in addition to team training, it will be critical that continuing education for those in primary care and the substance abuse treatment field and primary care focus on building competence in two evidence based practices: screening and brief intervention and medication assisted treatment for physicians and other clinicians in primary care settings

Weber has identified four factors that affect the US physician practices regarding buprenorphine and other medications for addiction: these included context, competence, comfort and compensation.¹⁴⁹ But how these will be countered remains yet to be seen. While many studies focus on barriers, we need to better understand what leads to adoption; adaptation of some concepts from implementation research may be useful.¹⁵⁰ Full adoption may only be possible through the use of multiple methods of dissemination including commercial marketing, targeting patients and practitioners, health care settings and systems, communities and the general population.¹⁵¹ For example, within the context of paying for quality, SBIRT could be marketed to some hospitals as a way to avoid unnecessary readmissions or complications related to unrecognized substance abuse.

Participants in the SAMHSA Policy Forums on Integration endorsed the need for additional training of both primary care and other physicians on both screening and brief interventions and referral and the use of medication assisted treatment for substance abuse. The need for additional training and identification of methods to overcome the resistance of some substance abuse treatment workers to the appropriate role of medications in treatment cannot be overemphasized. Given that for some patients, medication may make a critical difference in recovery, it is imperative that effective action be taken. Such an undertaking is broad, and the window of opportunity presented as health reform will not last forever. This suggests that both State and Federal governments, as well as health plans and professional organization, need to work collaboratively to develop and implement a plan to insure that patients with substance use conditions are appropriately identified and offered evidence based interventions, include medication assisted treatment.

Substantial training in team competencies will be essential for success in integrated care.

Working in health care teams, is new to most of the existing substance abuse treatment workforce as well as to many practitioners in the current primary care workforce and requires an understanding of what people do across broader teams with a broader mandate of improved health. Within the context of health care teams, teams with better performance include those with good leadership, a clear division of labor, training of team members in their personal roles and in team functioning, and team –supporting policies within the organization. Teams require considerable and ongoing investment, including the development of protocols that define the tasks and those who will perform them, the adoption of team rules for decision-making and communication and some time for non-patient care team meetings.¹⁵²

McCallin warns that it is faulty to assume that health professionals already possess the skills or attributes required for collaborative practice¹⁵³. For current members of the substance abuse treatment workforce, training to work in broader health care team will be a necessity. In complex organizations, teamwork has been identified as an essential component of high-reliability organizations (an organization where the likelihood of error is small but the consequences of error are serious); some argue that health care organizations are high reliability organizations¹⁵⁴. Knowledge, skills, and attitudes essential for teamwork include: skill in monitoring each other's performance, knowledge of your own and team members task responsibilities, and a positive disposition towards working on a team¹⁵⁵. One study of health care team effectiveness found that collaboration, conflict resolution, team participation and cohesion are likely to influence staff satisfaction and perceived team effectiveness, while the clinical expertise involved in team decision-making results in improvements in patient care.¹⁵⁶ Effective teamwork among existing health care teams has been shown to improve the quality of care, especially patient safety.¹⁵⁷

Inter-professional collaboration needs to be represented in the key competencies focused on in the basic training of all types of disciplines, including physicians, nurses, psychologists, social workers, counselors, recovery support specialists and others in the future substance abuse treatment workforce. Attention is beginning to be paid to teaching teamwork in medical and allied health education. Training models which have been tried included joint clinical rotations for advanced nurse practitioner primary care and mental health students,¹⁵⁸ family medicine residents trained using multiple forms of collaborative practice with specific feedback to residents about their psychosocial skills (Blount), a 45-hour undergraduate curriculum implemented through inter-professional education for the training family medicine, nursing, and social work students and continuing education for professionals through coaching,¹⁵⁹ and integrated training of pediatric residents and psychology fellows¹⁶⁰ to highlight just a few.

While it may be possible to support team-based competencies through changes in the curricula of basic professional education programs, it will be challenging to provide sufficient continuing education for those already practicing to develop the competencies required. Baker, Day and Salas state that "team training must be institutionalized throughout health care and professional training" and perhaps specific adaptations made for health care teams.¹⁶¹

At this juncture it should be clear that training the workforce to work in teams will be an important priority for some time to come. Team training outcomes are likely also to be effected by organizational characteristics such as "leadership support, learning climate, and commitment to data-driven change".¹⁶² That also embodies the challenge to health services for patients: how to provide leadership for the improvement of services to patients without stigmatization, how to create in both primary care and substance abuse treatment settings, a climate which uses science to facilitate growth and maturation, and how to create work environments for health professionals, where change is driven by data about patient outcomes rather than what is convenient, comfortable or status quo, for health professionals and the systems in which they work.

References

¹² Mertens JR, Lu YW, Parthasarathy S, Moore C, Weisner CM. Medical and psychiatric conditions of alcohol and drug treatment patients in an HMO. 2003, *Arch Int Med* 163:2511-2517.

¹³ Bachman SS, Darinomi ML, Tobias C. Medicaid managed care, substance abuse treatment and people with disabilities: A review of the literature. *Health Soc Work* 2004, 29:189-96.

¹⁴ Vandivort, R, Teich JL, Cowell AJ, Chen H. Utilization of substance use treatment services under Medicare, 2001-2002. *J Subst Abuse Treat* 2009, 36:414-419.

¹⁵ McCoy CB, Lai S, Metsch LR, Messiah SE, Zhao W. Injection drug use and crack cocaine smoking: Independent and dual risk behavior for HIV infection. *Ann Epidemiol* 2004 14:535-42.

¹⁶ SAMHSA, Office of Applied Studies, *The NSDUH Report: Adults with co-occurring Serious Mental Illness and a Substance Use Disorder*, 2002, Rockville MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Administration.

¹⁷ SAMHSA, Office of Applied Studies, *The NSDUH Report: Inhalant Use and Major Depressive Episode among Youths Aged 12-17, 2004 to 2006*, Rockville MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Administration.

¹⁸ Dickey B, Azeni H, Weiss R., Sederer L. Schizophrenia, substance use disorders and medical comorbidity. *J Ment Health Pol Econ* 2000, 2:27-33.

¹⁹ Mertens et al, 2003.

²⁰ Grant B.F., and Harford, T.C. Co-morbidity between DSM-IV alcohol use disorders and major depression: Results of a national survey. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 1995(39):197-206.

²¹ Rachel Power, Cheryl Koopman, Jonathan Volk, Dennis M. Israelski, Louisa Stone, Margaret A. Chesney and David Spiegel. Social support, substance use and denial in relationship to antiretroviral treatment adherence among HIV-infected persons. *AIDS Patient Care and STDs*. 2003, 17: 245-252...

²² Keren Lehavot, David Huh, Karina L. Walters, Kevin M. King, Michele P. Andrasik and Jane M. Simoni. *AIDS Patient Care and STDs*. 2011, 25: 181-189

²³Hinkin CH, Barclay CR, Castellon CA, Levine AJ, Durvasula RS, Marion SD, Myers HF, Longshore D. *AIDS Behav.* 2007, 11:185-194.

¹ Collins, C, Hewson DL, Munger DL, Wade T. *Evolving Models of Behavioral Health Integration in Primary Care*. 2010, New York: Millbank Memorial Fund.

² Mauer, B. *Substance Use Disorders and the Person Centered Healthcare Home*, 2010, Washington, DC: National Council for Community Behavioral Healthcare.

³ Chalk M, Dilonardo J, Rinaldo SG, Oehlmann P. *Integrating Appropriate Services for Substance Use Conditons in Health Care Settings*. 2010, Philadelphia, PA:Treatment Research Institute.

⁴ Chalk M, Dilonardo J, Rinaldo, SG. *Purchasing Integrated Services for Substance Use Conditions in Health Care Settings*. 2011 Philadelphia, PA:Treatment Research Institute.

⁵ Collins et al, 2010.

⁶ Office of National Drug Control Policy, Executive Office of the President, *The New Healthcare Reform Law: Helping to Close the Treatment Gap.* July 2010.

⁷ Chalk et al., 2011.

 ⁸ Fleming MF, Manwell LB, Barry KL, Johnson K. At-risk drinking in an HMO primary care sample: prevalence and health policy implications. *Am J Pub Hlth* 1998, 88:90-93.
 ⁹ McLellan T. Revisiting the past for a look toward future research: A final editorial. *J Subst Abuse Treat*

⁹ McLellan T. Revisiting the past for a look toward future research: A final editorial. *J Subst Abuse Treat* 2009, 36:352-354.

¹⁰ Blount A, DeGirolamo S, Mariani K. Training the collaborative care practitioners of the future. *Fam, Syst Health* 2006, 24:111-119.

¹¹ Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2010). *Results from the 2009 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Volume I. Summary of National Findings* (Office of Applied Studies, NSDUH Series H-38A, HHS Publication No. SMA 10-4856). Rockville, MD

²⁴ Kreyenbuhl J, Dixon LB, McCarthy JF, Soliman S, Ignacio RV, Valenstein M. Does adherence to medications for Type 2 diabetes differ between individuals with and without schizophrenia? Schiz Bull 2010, 36:428-435.

²⁵ Benjamin-Johnson R, Moore A, Gilmore J, Watkins K. Access to medical care, use of preventative services and chronic conditions among adults in substance abuse treatment. Psychiatr Serv 2009 60:1276-1279.

²⁶ Leung GY, Zhang J, Lin WC, Clark RE, Behavioral health disorders and adherence to measures of diabetes care quality. Am J Manag Care 2011 17:144-50.

²⁷ Lee SY, Morrissey JP, Thomas KC, Cater WC, Ellis AR. Assessing the service linkages of substance abuse agencies with mental health and primary care organizations. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse 2006 32:69-86.

²⁸ Mancuso, D, Felver BE. Health care reform, Medicaid expansion and access to drug and alcohol treatment: Opportunities for disability prevention. Olympia WA: Washington State. Research and Data Analysis Division, Department of Social and Health Services, (RDA Report 4.84), October 2010.

²⁹ Jiang JH, Wier LH All cause hospital readmissions for non-elderly Medicaid patients. 2007. HCUP Statistical Brief #89. Rockville MD: Agency for Health care Research and Quality.

Adams WL, Yuan Z, Barboriak JJ et al. Alcohol related hospitalizations of elderly people. JAMA 1993, 270:1222-1225.

³¹ Gerson LW, Boex J, Hua K, Luckett RA, Zumbar WR, Bush D, Givens C. Medical care used by treated and untreated substance abusing Medicaid patients J Subst Abuse Treat 2001, 20:115-20.

³² Wickizer TM, Krupski A, Stark KD, Mancuso D, Campbell K. The effect of substance abuse treatment on Medicaid expenditures among general assistance welfare clients in Washington State. Milbank O. 2006, 84:555-76.

³³ Mancuso D, Felver BE. Bending the health care cost curve by expanding alcohol/drug treatment. Olympia WA: Washington State. Research and Data Analysis Division, Department of Social and Health Services, (RDA Report 4.81), September 2010.

³⁴ National Institute of Alcoholism and Alcohol Abuse, *Helping patients who drink too much: A clinician's* guide. Revised, 2007. Bethesda MD: NIH publication number 07-3769.

Garbutt JC The state of pharmacotherapy for the treatment of alcohol dependence. J Subst Abuse Treat 2009 36:S15-23.

³⁶ Lee JD, Grossman E, DiRocco D, Truncali A, Hanley K, Stevens D, Rotrosen J, Gourevitch MN. Extended-release naltrexone for the treatment of alcohol dependence in primary care J Subst Abuse Treat, 2010. 39:14-21.

³⁷ Mark TL, Montejano LB, Kranzler HR, Chalk M, Gastfriend DR, Comparison of healthcare utilization among patients treated with alcoholism medications. Am J Manag Care 2010 16:879-888.

 38 Boldt, RC. Introduction: Obstacles to the development and use of pharmacotherapies for addiction. J Health Care L & Policy, 2010 13: 1-6.

³⁹ Mark TL, Kassed CA, Vandivort-Warren R, Levit KR, Kranzler HR, Alcohol and opioid dependence medications: Prescription trends, overall and by physician specialty. Drug Alcohol Depend 61 195-206. ⁴⁰ Mark et al., 2010.

⁴¹ Maciosek MV, Coffield AB, Edwards NM, Flottmesch TJ, Goodman MJ, Solberg LI. Priorities among effective preventive services: Results of a systematic review and analysis. Am J Prev Med 2006, 31:52-61.

⁴² Friedmann PD, McCullough D, Chin MH, Saitz R. Screening and intervention for alcohol problems. A national survey of primary care physicians and psychiatrists. *J Gen Intern Med*. 2000,15:84–91. ⁴³ Nguyen K, Fink A, Beck JC, Higa J, Feasibility of using an alcohol screening and health education

system with older primary care patients, J Am Board Fam Pract 2002, 14:7-15.

Aspy CB, Mold, JW, Thompson DM, Blondell RD, Lander PS, Reilly KE, Wright-Eackers L. Integrating screening and interventions for unhealthy behaviors into primary care practices. Am J Prev Med 2008, 35(Suppl): S373-S380.

⁴⁵ McGlynn EA, Asch SM, Adams J, Keesey J, Hicks J, DeCristofaro A, Kerr EA. The quality of health care delivered to adults in the United States. N Engl J Med 2003 348(26):2635-2645.

⁴⁶ Spandorfer JM, Israel Y, Turner, B. Primary care physicians views on screening and management of alcohol abuse inconsistencies with national guidelines. J Fam Pract 1999 48: 899-902.

⁴⁷ Friedmann PD, McCullogh D, Saitz R. Screening and intervention for illicit drug abuse: a national survey of primary care physicians and psychiatrists. *Arch Intern Med* 2001 181:248-251.

⁴⁸ Meadows T, Valleley R, Haack, MK, Thorson R, Evans J. Physician "costs" in providing behavioral health in primary care. *Clin Pediatr* (Phila) 2011 50:447-55.

⁴⁹ Parthasarathy S, Mertens J, Moore C, Weisner C. Utilization and cost impact of integrating substance abuse treatment and primary care. *Med Care*. 2003, 41:357-67.

⁵⁰ Weisner C, Mertens J, Parthasarathy S, Moore C, Lu Y. Integrating primary medical care with addiction treatment: A randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. 2001, 286:1715-23.

⁵¹ Chalk et al., 2010, Chalk et al., 2011.

⁵³ Mauer B, Druss B. *Mind and Body Reunited: Improving Care at the Behavioral and Primary Healthcare Interface*. Albuquerque NM: American College of Mental Health Administration.

⁵⁴ Mauer , 2010.

⁵⁵ Whitlock EP, Orleans CT, Pender, N, Allan J. Evaluating primary care behavioral counseling interventions: An evidence based approach. *Am J Prev Med* 2002, 22:267-284.

⁵⁶ Mauer, 2010.

⁵⁷ Goodell S, Bodenheimer T,. Berry- Miller R. *Care management of patients with complex health care needs. Policy Brief #19*, 2009, Robert Wood Johnson Foundation.

⁵⁸ Mauer, B. 2006. *Behavioral Health/Primary Care Integration: The Four Quadrant Model and Evidence-Based Practices*. Rockville, MD: National Council for Community Behavioral Healthcare.

⁵⁹ Joint Principles of the Patient Centered Medical home, 2007.

⁶⁰ WIPHL, Alcohol and Drug SBIRT Services – A good deal for healthcare payers: A policy brief from the Wisconsin initiative to promote healthy lifestyles.

⁶¹ Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA News), *Screening Adds Prevention to Treatment (Part 2): Interview and Intervention*, 2006, 14:2.

⁶² Ibid. p. 2.

 ⁶³ Fundebunk, JS, Sugarman DE, Labbe AK, Rodrigues A, Maisto SA, Nelso B. Behavioral health interventions being implementd in a VA primary care setting. *J Clin Psychol Med Settings* 2011, 18:22-9.
 ⁶⁴ Goodell S, Boderheimer T, Berry-Miller R. Care management of patients with complex health care

needs. 2009. Robert Wood Johnsom Foundation, Policy Brief No. 19.

⁶⁵ Katon W, Gonzales J. A Review of randomized trials of psychiatric consultation-liaison studies in primary care. *Psychosomatics* 1994, 35:268-278.
 ⁶⁶ Fuller, MG, Diamond DL, Jordan ML, Walters MC. The role of a substance abuse consultation team in a

⁶⁶ Fuller, MG, Diamond DL, Jordan ML, Walters MC. The role of a substance abuse consultation team in a trauma center. *J Stud Alcohol* 1995, 56:267-271.

⁶⁷ Physician's Clinical Support System for Buprenorphine (PCSS-B).

⁶⁸American Society of Addiction Medicine Physician Clinical Support System- Primary Care Accessed on July 15, 2011 at http://www.drugabuse.gov/nidamed/pcss.php

⁶⁹ Chalk et al., 2011.

⁷⁰ American Academy of Pediatrics, Policy Statement – *The Future of Pediatrics: Mental Health Competencies for Pediatric Primary Care:* American Academy of Pediatrics, 2009.

⁷¹ VanHook S, Harris SK, Brooks T, Carey P, Kossack R, Kulig JR, New England Partnership for Substance Abuse Research, *J Adolesc Health* 2007, 40:456-461.

⁷² The Annapolis Coalition on the Behavioral on the Behavioral Health Workforce, *An Action Plan for Behavioral Health Workforce Development: A Framework for Discussion*. 2007, Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Administration.

⁷³ Strengthening Professional Identity: Challenges of the Addictions Treatment Workforce, December 2006, Washington DC: Abt Associates.

⁷⁴Institute of Medicine (IOM), *Managing Managed Care: Quality Improvements in Behavioral Health*, 1997, Washington, DC: National Academy Press.

⁷⁵ Lewin Group, *Information Services Survey*, 2000. Falls Church, VA: The Lewin Group.

⁷⁶ Libretto, SV, Weil J, Nemes S, Linder NC & Johansson A. Workforce in 2002: A synthesis of current literature. *J Psychoactive Drugs* 2004 36:489-97

⁷⁷ Maine Direct Service Providers: Summary of Findings, New England Addiction Technology Transfer Center, 2004.

⁵² Collins et al., 2010.

⁷⁸ Vermont Direct Service Providers: Summary of Findings, New England Addiction Technology Transfer Center, 2004.

⁷⁹ New Hampshire Direct Service Providers: Summary of Findings, New England Addiction Technology Transfer Center, 2004.

⁸⁰ Connecticut Direct Service Providers: Summary of Findings, New England Addiction Technology Transfer Center, 2004.

⁸¹ Massachusetts Direct Service Providers: Summary of Findings, New England Addiction Technology Transfer Center, 2004.

⁸² Data from the National Employment Matrix. Bureau of Labor Statistics.

⁸³ Kerwin ME, Walker Smith K, Kirby KC Comparative analysis of state requirements for the training of mental health and substance abuse counselors. *J Subst Abuse Treat*, 2006, 30:173-181.

⁸⁴ Mulvey K, P, Hubbard S, Hayashi S A national study of the substance abuse treatment workforce. *J Subst Abuse Treat* 2003, 24:51-57.

⁸⁵ Libretto et al., 2004.

⁸⁶ Kerwin et al., 2006.

⁸⁷ Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration/ Center for Substance Abuse Treatment (SAMHSA/CSAT) Addictions Counseling Competencies: The Knowledge, Skills and Attitudes of Professional Practice. Technical Assistance Publication (TAP) Series 21. (Rockville, MD DHHS, 2002)

⁸⁸ Amodeo, M Securing an equal role for substance abuse counselors: A commentary on Kerwin, Walker-Smith and Kirby. 2006, *J Subst Abuse Treat*, 30:169-70.

⁸⁹ Kerwin et al., 2006.

⁹⁰ Libretto et al., 2004.

⁹¹ Bureau of Labor Statistics, Occupational Outlook Handbook, 2010-2011 Edition. Social Workers,.

⁹² Smith, MJ. Whitaker T, Weismuller T Social workers in the substance abuse field: A snapshot of service activities *Health Social Work* 2006, 31:109

⁹³ Hall MN, Amodeo M, Shaffer HJ Vander Bilt J. Social workers employed in substance abuse treatment agencies: training needs assessment. *Soc Work* 2000, 45:141-55
 ⁹⁴ Bureau of Labor Statistics, U. S. Department of Labor, Occupational Outlook Handbook, 2010-11

⁹⁴ Bureau of Labor Statistics, U. S. Department of Labor, Occupational Outlook Handbook, 2010-11 Edition.

⁹⁵ Bureau of Labor Statistics, U. S. Department of Labor, Occupational Outlook Handbook, 2010-11 Edition.

⁹⁶ Health Resources and Services Administration, US Department of Health and Human Services, *The Registered Nurse Population: Findings from the 2008 National Sample of Registered Nurses*, September 2010.

⁹⁷ Stanley JM,, Werner KE, Apple K. Positioning advanced care nurses for health care reform: consensus on APRN regulation. *J Prof Nurs* 2009, 25:340-348.

⁹⁸ American Nurses Credentialing Center, 2009 Role Delineation Study: Clinical Nurse Specialist in Adult Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing- National Survey Results. 2010.

⁹⁹ Dyer JG, Hammill K, Regan-Kubinski MJ, Yurick A, Fobert S. The psychiatric-primary care nurse practitioner: a futuristic model for advanced practice in psychiatric mental health nursing. *Arch Psychiatr Nurs* 1997 11:2-12.

¹⁰⁰ Finnell, DS *Certification in Addictions Nursing: Promoting and protecting the public*, April 2002.

¹⁰¹ APRN Consensus Work Group and National Council of State Boards of Nursing, APRN Advisory Committee, Consensus Model for APRN Regulation: Licensure, Accreditation, Certification and Education, July, 2008.

¹⁰² Hanrahan NP, Delaney KR, Stuart GW. Blueprint for development of the advanced practice psychiatric nurse workforce. *Nurs Oulook* 2011 June 22. [e-pub ahead of print]

¹⁰³ Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor, Occupational Outlook Handbook, Physicians and Surgeons, 2010-11 Edition.

¹⁰⁴ Health Resources and Services Administration, Bureau of Health Professions, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, *The Physician workforce: projects and research into current issues affecting supply and demand.* December, 2008.

¹⁰⁵ Center for Addiction and Substance Abuse *Missed Opportunity: A national survey of primary care physicians and patients on substance abuse.* 2000 NY: Columbia University.

¹⁰⁶ Isaacson, JH, Fleming M, Kraus M, Kahn R, Mundt M. A national survey of training in substance use disorders in residency programs. *J Stud Alcoho* 2000, 161:912-915.

¹⁰⁸ Scully JH, Wilk JE. Selected characteristics and data of psychiatrists in the United States, 2001-2002. *Acad Psychiatry* 2003, 27: 247-251.

¹⁰⁹ Personal communication to Mady Chalk from ASAM

¹¹⁰ Soyka M, Gorelick DA. Why should addiction medicine be an attractive field for young physicians?, *Addiction* 2009 104:169-72.

¹¹¹ Karam-Hage M, Nerenbergl, Brower K.J. Modifying residents professional attitudes about substance abuse treatment and training. *Amer J Addict*, 2001, 10:40-47.

¹¹² Bureau of Labor Statistics, U. S. Department of Labor, Occupational Outlook Handbook, Social and human service assistants, 2010-11 Edition.

¹¹³ Larson EH, Hart LG Growth and change in the physician assistant workforce in the United States, 1967-2000. *J Allied Health*, 2007 36:121-130.

¹¹⁴ Jones PE Physician assistant education in the United States. Acad Med 2007 82:882-7.

¹¹⁵ Bureau of Labor Statistics, U. S. Department of Labor, Occupational Outlook Handbook, Physician assistants, 2010-11 Edition.

¹¹⁶ Bureau of Health Professions, Health Resources and Services Administration, Community Healthw orker National Workforce Study 2007 Rockville MD: Health Resources and Services Administration.

¹¹⁷ Florida Recovery support certification.

¹¹⁸ Lewin Group

¹¹⁹ National Association of Alcoholism and Drug Abuse Counselors (NAADAC). NAADAC Practitioner Network Member Report (PRN), 2001, Alexandria, VA:NAADAC

¹²⁰ Strengthening Professional Identity: Challenges of the Addictions Treatment Workforce, 2006.
 ¹²¹ Ibid.

¹²² Thomas CP, Wallach SS, Lee S, McCarty D, Swift R. Research to practice: Adoption of naltrexone in alcoholism treatment. *J Subst Abuse Treat* 2003, 24:1-11.

¹²³ Knudsen HK, Ducarme LJ, Roman PM, Link, T. Buprenorphine diffusion: The attitudes of substance abuse treatment counselors. *J Subst Abuse Treat* 2008, 29:95-106.

¹²⁴ Ball S, BachrachK, DeCarlo J, Farentinos C, Keen M, McSherry T, Polcin D, Snead N, Sockriter R, Wrigley P, Zammaarelli L, Carroll K. Characteristics, beliefs and practices of community clinicians trained to provide manual guided therapy for substance abusers. *J Subst Abuse Treat* 2002, 23:309-318.

¹²⁵ Herbeck DM, Hser Y, Teruya C. Empirically supported substance abuse treatment approaches: A survey of treatment provider perspectives and practices. Addict Behav 2008, 33:699-712.

¹²⁶ Obert JL, Brown AH, Zweben J, Christian D, Delmhorst JH, Minsky S, MorriseyP, Vandersloot D, Weiner A. When treatment meets research: clinical perspectives from the CSAT Methamphetamine Project. *J Subst Abuse Treat* 2005, 28:231-237.

¹²⁷ Smith et al., 2006.

¹²⁸ Hall MN, Amodeo M, Shaffer HJ, Vander Bilt J. Social workers employed in substance abuse treatment agencies: a training needs assessment. *Soc Work* 2000, 45:141-55.

¹²⁹ Jerrel, JM, Ridgely MS. Impact of robustness of program implementation on outcome of clients in dual diagnosis programs. *Psychatir Serv* 1999, 50:109-12.

¹³⁰ Madison, MB, Campbell TC. Measures of fidelity in motivational enhancement: a systematic review. *J* Subst Abuse Treat 2006, 31: 67-73.

¹³¹ Carroll KM, Nich C, Sifry RL, Nuro KF, Frankforter TL, Ball, SA, Fenton L Rounsaville BJ. A general system for evaluating therapist adherence and competence in psychotherapy research in the addictions. *Drug Alcohol Depend.* 57:225-238.

¹³² Martino S, Ball SA, Nich C, Frankforter TL, Carroll KM. Community program therapist adherence and competence in motivational enhancement therapy. *Drug and Alcohol Depend* 2000, 96:37-48.

¹³³ Miller WR, Sorensen JL, Selzer JA, Brigham GS. Disseminating evidence-based practices in substance abuse treatment: a review with suggestions. *J Subst Abuse Treat* 2006, 31:25-39.

¹⁰⁷ Polydorou S, Gunderson EW, Levin FR. Training physicians to treat substance use disorders. *Current Psychiatry Rep* 2008, 10:399-404.

¹³⁴ Squires DD, Gumley SJ, Storti SA. Training substance abuse treatment organizations to adopt evidence based practices: the Addiction Technology Transfere Center of New England Science to Service Laboratory. *J Subst Abuse Treat* 2008, 34:292-301.

¹³⁵ Scheonwald SK, Hoagwood KE, Atkins MS, Evans ME, Ringeisen H. Workforce development and the organization of work: the science we need. *Adm Policy Ment Health* 2010, 37:71-80.

¹³⁶ Kautz, C., Mauch, D., & Smith, S. A. (2008). *Reimbursement of mental health services in primary care settings (HHS Pub. No. SMA-08-4324)*. Rockville, MD: Center for Mental Health Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.

¹³⁷ Wisconsin Initiative to Promote Health Lifestyles (WIPHL), *Screening, Brief Intervention and Referral* to Treatment, Coding, Billing and Reimbursement Manual, January, 2010.

¹³⁸ Butler M, Kane RL,McAlpine D, Kathol RG, Fu SS, Hagedorn H, Wilt TJ. *Integration of mental health/substance abuse and primary care No 173* (Prepared by the Minnesota Evidence-based Practice Center under Contract No 290-02-0009.) AHRQ Publication No. 09-E003. 2008. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.

¹³⁹ Grazier KL, Hegedus AM, Carli T, Neal D, Reynolds K. Integration of Behavioral and physical health care for a Medicaid population through a public private partnership. *Psych Serv* 2003, 54:1508-1512.
 ¹⁴⁰ Bao Y, Casalino LP, Ettner SL. Bruce ML, Solberg LI, Unutzer J. *Health Serv Res* 2011 May 24 doi:10.1111/j.1475-6773.2011.01272.x [e-pub ahead of print]

¹⁴¹ Tackach M. Reinventing Medicaid: State Innovations to qualify and pay for patient-centered medical homes show promising results. *Health Affairs*, 2011, 30:1325-34.

¹⁴² Patchias EM, Birnbaum M. Providing care to Medicaid beneficiaries with behavioral health conditions: Challenges for New York. Medicaid Institute at United Hospital Fund,, February, 2011.
 ¹⁴³ Ibid.

¹⁴⁴ Takach, M, Purington, Osius, E. A Tale of Two Systems: A look at State Efforts to Integrate Primary Care and Behavioral Health in Safety Net Populations, Washington, DC: National Academy of State Health Policy, 2010.

¹⁴⁵ Recovery Support Specialist, Peer Delivered Services, General Information. State of Connecticut, ¹⁴⁶ National Association of State Medicaid Directors. *Serving the needs of Medicaid enrollees with integrated behavioral health services in safety net primary care settings*. April 2009.

¹⁴⁷ Harwood HJ, Kowalski J, Ameen A. The need for substance abuse training among mental health professionals, *Admin Pol Ment Hlth.* 2004, 32:189-205.
 ¹⁴⁸ Haack, MR, Adger H. (eds) *Strategic Plan of Interdisciplinary Faculty Development: Arming the*

¹⁴⁸ Haack, MR, Adger H. (eds) Strategic Plan of Interdisciplinary Faculty Development: Arming the Nation's Health Professional Workforce for a New Approach to Substance Use Disorders. 2002. RI: Association for Medical Education and Research in Substance Abuse (AMERSA)

¹⁴⁹ Weber EM Failure of physicians to prescribe pharmacotherapies for addiction: Regulatory restrictions and physician resistance. *J Health Care Law & Policy* 2010 13:49-76.

¹⁵⁰ Damschroeder, LJ, Aron DC, Keith RE, Kirsh SR, Alexander JA, Lowery JC. Fostering implementation of health services research findings into practice: A consolidated framework for advancing implementation science. *Implementation Science*, 2009, 4:50.

¹⁵¹ Babor TF, Higgins-Biddle,JC. Alcohol screening and brief intervention: Dissemination strategies for medical practice and public health. *Addiction* 2001, 95:677-686.

¹⁵²Bodenheimer, T Building teams in primary care: Lessons Learned California HealthCare Foundation, July 2007.

¹⁵³ McCallin A Interprofessional practice: learning how to collaborate. *Contemp Nurse* 2005, 20:28-37.

¹⁵⁴ Baker, DP, Day R, Salas E. Teamwork as an essential component of high-reliability organizations. *Health Serv Res* 2006, 41 (Part II):1576-1598.

¹⁵⁵ Cannon-Bowers JA, Tannenbaurm SI, Salas E, Volpe CE. Defining competencies and establishing team training requirements. In *Team Effectiveness and Decision-making in Organizations*. RA Guzzo & E Salas, Eds., pp 333-80 San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

¹⁵⁶ Lemieuz-Charles L, McGuire WL. What do we know about health care team effectiveness? A review of the literature. *Med Care Res Rev* 2006, 63:263-300.

¹⁵⁷ Lerner S, Magrane D, Friedman E. Teaching teamwork in medical education. *Mt Sinai J Med* 2009, 76:318-29.

¹⁵⁸ Roberts KT, Robinson KM, Stewart C, Smith F. An integrated mental health clinical rotation *J Nurs Educ* 2009, 48:454-459.

¹⁶⁰ Pisani AR, IRoux P, Siegel DM. Educating residents in behavioral health care and collaboration: Integrated training of pediatric residents and psychology fellows. *Acad Med* 2011, 86:166-73.
 ¹⁶¹ Baker et al. p. 1592..
 ¹⁶² Salas E. Almeida SA Salisbuty M, King H Lazzara EH, Lyons R, Wilson KA, Almedia PA,

McQuillan R. Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf 2009, 35:398-405.

¹⁵⁹ Bilodeau A, Dumont S, Hagan I, Pare L, Razmpoosh M, Houle N, Briere N, Iloko-Fundi M. Interprofessinal education at Laval University: Building an integrated curriculum for patient centered

The Four Quadrant Clinical Integration Model for Substance Use Disorders

Quadrant II	Quadrant IV	
High SU Low PH	High SU High PH	
Out-stationed medical nurse practitioner/physician	Out-stationed medical nurse practitioner/physician	
with standard screening tools and guidelines or	with standard screening tools and guidelines or	
Community PCP	Community PCP	
SU clinician/case manager w/ responsibility for	Nurse care manager at SU site	
Coordination w/PCP	SU clinician case manager	
Specialty outpatient SU treatment including	External care manager	
medication assisted therapy	Specialty medical surgical	
Residential SU treatment	Specialty outpatient SU treatment including	
Crisis/ED based SU interventions	medication assisted therapy	
Detox/sobering	Residential SU treatment	
Wellness programming	Crisis/ED based SU interventions	
Other community supports	Detox/sobering	
	Medical/surgical inpatient	
	Nursing home/home based care	
	Wellness programming	
	Other community supports	
Quadrant I	Quadrant III	
Low SU Low PH	Low SU High PH	
PCP with standard screening tools and MH/Su	PCP with standard screening tools and MH/Su	
practice guidelines for medications and	practice guidelines for medications and	
medication assisted therapy.	medication assisted therapy.	
PCP based BH/Care manager competence in both MH/SU PCP based BH/Care manager competence MH/SU		
Specialty prescribing consultation Specialty medical-surgical based BHC/care		
Crisis/ED based SU interventions	manager competent in both MH/SU	
Wellness programming Specialty prescribing consultation		
Other community supports Crisis/ED based SU interventions		
	Medical/surgical inpatient	
	Nursing home/home based care	
	Wellness programming	
	Other community supports	

Source: Mauer, B. Substance Use Disorders and the Person Centered Healthcare Home, 2010, Washington, DC: National Council for Community Behavioral Healthcare.